D.A.5-6-93

# 

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA SUPREME COURT CASE NO.: 80,189

SECOND DCA CASE NO. 91-04045

HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY Supervisor of Elections,

Petitioner,

v.

TAKE BACK TAMPA POLITICAL COMMITTEE and RICHARD M. CLEWIS, III,

Respondents.

## INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

EMELINE C. ACTON County Attorney Florida Bar No. 309559

JOHN J. DINGFELDER Assistant County Attorney Hillsborough County Attorney's Office Post Office Box 1110 Tampa, Florida 33601 (813) 272-5670 Florida Bar No. 829129

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

####

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Supervisor of Elections for Hillsborough County, Florida, is referred to as "the Supervisor."

Respondents, The Take Back Tampa Political Committee and Richard M. Clewis, III, the petitioners below, are referred to as "Take Back Tampa" or "TBT."

The record on appeal is cited by the letter "R" followed by the applicable page number: (R \_\_\_\_). An exception to this method of citing the record is used whenever citations are to the deposition of Robin C. Krivanek. This deposition will be cited as follows: the letter "R" followed by "RCK" and the page number of the deposition (R RCK \_\_\_).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

All 67 Supervisors of Elections are required by law to follow detailed statutes that precisely define their duties. One critical responsibility of all Supervisors is the regular maintenance of their respective voter registration books. Section 98.081(1), Florida Statutes, provides that during each odd-numbered year each Supervisor shall commence a well-defined procedure that results in the removal of inactive voters' names from the official voter registration books. The Supervisors of this state are also saddled with the heavy statutory responsibility of validating signatures on petition drives submitted for numerous purposes. This case involves the issuance of a writ of mandamus by the trial court that mandates how the Supervisor is to perform both tasks identified above.

On May 16, 1991, former Hillsborough County Supervisor of Elections, Robin C. Krivanek,<sup>1</sup> began the process of maintaining her registration books, just as she had done in each other odd-numbered year during her eighteen year tenure. It is undisputed that on that date she mailed to each elector, who had not voted in any election or made a written request that his registration records be updated during the previous two years, a standard postcard form to be filled in, signed, and returned to her office by mail within thirty (30) days after the postmark date (R RCK 39,40). The form returned advised the Supervisor "whether the elector's status has changed from that of the registration record." Section 98.081(1),

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Petitioner, Pam Iorio, was recently elected to replace Robin Krivanek who retired after serving eighteen years as Hillsborough County Supervisor of Elections.

Fla. Stat. After the 30-day period for returning the cards ended, the Supervisor directed her data processing department to purge the names of those electors who had not returned the cards from the "voter registration books" in accordance with the statute (R RCK 41). The purge occurred on June 21, 1991 (R RCK 41). In that process the Supervisor temporarily removed more than 25,000 names of electors from the County's permanent voter registration books.

Coincidentally, Respondent Take Back Tampa ("TBT") was mounting a petition drive contemporaneously with the Supervisor's Section 98.081(1) purge. This petition drive, undertaken solely in accordance with Section 10.07 of the Tampa Home Rule Charter, was initiated to place on the election ballot a referendum to repeal a recently adopted City Human Rights Ordinance. Section 10.07 provides as follows:

> The <u>qualified voters</u> of the city shall have the power to propose ordinances to the council or to require reconsideration of any ordinance by petition signed by the electors of the city equal in number to not less than 10 percent of the electors of the city <u>qualified to vote</u> at the last general municipal election . .

(emphasis supplied).

In the absence of Section 10.07, Respondents would have not had any other opportunity to have the ordinance repealed by referendum.

TBT filed its signature petition on August 15, 1991. Pursuant to Section 100.361(d), Florida Statutes, the Supervisor immediately began evaluating it to determine whether the petition contained the requisite number of "valid" signatures of qualified voters. To accomplish this task for TBT and, for that matter, any other "petition gatherer" attempting to comply with this charter provision, the Supervisor first checked each signature against her computer file list of active registered voters. If the name was not there, it was marked as not registered (R RCK 28,29). If it was determined that the person was on the active voter registration list, then the address was checked to make sure it was within the City (R RCK 11). If the address was within the City, it was then verified that the signature resembled or looked sufficiently like the signature on file in the Elections Office to determine whether it was made by the same hand (R RCK 11). As an extra precaution to ensure that she did not eliminate those who signed the petition prior to the County's Section 98.081 purge, she checked the names of persons who signed the petition before June 21 against the inactive voter list to determine if they were "qualified voters" on the date they signed the petition (R 184, 340, 357 ¶ 20). The Supervisor identified 462 signatures of persons who had been purged on June 21, 1991, and therefore were not "qualified voters" when they signed the petition. She eliminated those names from TBT's petition, and on September 3, 1991, informed the Mayor of Tampa and City Council Chairman that Take Back Tampa's petition contained signatures of only 12,130 electors qualified to vote - 180 signatures short of the 12,310 signatures required by the Tampa Charter<sup>2</sup> (R 507).

On September 27, 1991, Take Back Tampa filed a petition for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Relying upon her count of 123,093 electors qualified to vote in the previous general municipal election, the Supervisor determined that Take Back Tampa needed to obtain 12,310 signatures to be successful (R 507). As noted by Take Back Tampa in its Brief to the Second District Court of Appeal, this determination excluded City electors who were on the inactive voter list at the time of the last general municipal election.

writ of mandamus in the Circuit Court in and for Hillsborough County seeking to require the Supervisor to count the signatures of the 462 persons whose names had been removed from the registration books during the June 21, 1991 purge (R 507).

The Honorable Judge Guy W. Spicola entered an alternative writ in mandamus on September 30, 1991, commanding the City Clerk and the Supervisor to show cause why a peremptory writ of mandamus should not issue (R 331-334). After a hearing on the matter, the trial court entered its order on petition for writ of mandamus on November 22, 1991, and issued a peremptory writ of mandamus to the City Clerk and the Supervisor on November 25, 1991 (R 531). The court entered an order clarifying its order on petition for writ of mandamus on December 5, 1991 (R 557).

The Supervisor filed a motion for rehearing which was denied on December 9, 1991, and filed her Notice of Appeal on that same date (R 560-562). The Second District Court of Appeal affirmed Judge Spicola's decision on July 1, 1992. This Court granted the Supervisor's Petition for Writ of Certiorari on December 28, 1992.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The court below erred when it affirmed the lower court's writ of mandamus ordering the Supervisor to count the petitions of those "unqualified voters" who had been properly removed from the County's permanent voter's registration list.

Respondent, Take Back Tampa, circulated a petition to repeal a City ordinance via a municipal referendum in accordance with a unique provision of the City Charter. The Charter provision expressly provides "qualified voters" with the opportunity to sign a petition to have an ordinance placed on the ballot if 10% of the electors "qualified to vote" at the previous election sign the petition. The Supervisor invalidated 462 of the signatures on the petition as she determined that those electors had been purged from the permanent voter's registration list in accordance with applicable statute and were therefore unqualified to vote until they took the affirmative step of notifying the Supervisor in writing that their "status" as electors had not changed. The Supervisor utilized her best judgment in making this determination and based her sound decision on her interpretation of a complex set of election laws and on advisory opinions from the Attorney General and Secretary of State.

The court below further erred when it suggested that the 462 purged electors, whose signatures were invalidated by the Supervisor, had provided sufficient notice for the Supervisor to reinstate them as "qualified voters" by merely signing the petition and indicating their address and precinct number.

Although in a footnote the District Court states that it did not rely upon Constitutional principles in reaching its decision,

jjd\pleading\Sup-Brf.TBT\21\91-1885-01

it subsumed the circuit court's opinion including that portion where the lower court erred by holding that there were Constitutional issues involved. Specifically, the court found that Respondent's First Amendment right to "petition" had somehow been maligned. Respondents and the lower court have misconstrued the Constitutional provision "inherent right to petition one's government for redress" with the right to petition endowed to "qualified voters" by the City Charter.

The court lacks jurisdiction to review this matter. it is well established that a party only has standing to raise its own legal rights or interests. Take Back Tampa and Clewis have failed to allege or prove that their own rights or interests were violated by the Supervisor when she invalidated the 462 signatures on the petition. Specifically, it is uncontroverted and Take Back Tampa admits that Mr. Clewis' signature was not one of the 462 invalidated. Likewise, Take Back Tampa is an organization, not an elector and, therefore, could not, and did not, sign the petition. in theory, if the Supervisor violated anyone's legal rights or interests, it would have been those 462 electors -- who are not <u>before the court</u>.

Finally, and in conjunction with the Constitutional confusion noted above, the trial court has recently exacerbated its original error by awarding attorney's fees of \$60,500 to Respondents under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988 in the face of a lack of standing, on the part of Respondents, to raise any Constitutional claims. As such, Petitioner urges this court to issue an extraordinary writ of prohibition requiring the trial judge to rescind his order and dismiss the claim for fees on the ground that the Court lacks

subject matter jurisdiction to hear such a motion.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THIS MATTER AS CLEWIS AND TAKE BACK TAMPA HAVE FAILED TO ALLEGE ANY OF THEIR OWN LEGAL RIGHTS OR INTERESTS THAT HAVE BEEN VIOLATED BY THE SUPERVISOR.

In their Petition for Writ of Mandamus filed on September 27, 1991, Clewis and TBT merely allege that TBT is a committee consisting of "qualified voters in Tampa" and that Clewis is a qualified voter of the City of Tampa. The parties then asserted jurisdiction under Florida Constitution, Article 5, Section 6 and Florida Rules of Appellant Procedure 9.030(c)(3) (Petition at 4). Finally, Clewis and Take Back Tampa allege that the effect of the Supervisor and City Clerk's action has been that "electors of the City of Tampa are being denied their Constitutional right to vote on an issue of great public importance." (Id.)

The Supervisor acknowledges that she invalidated the signatures of 462 electors who signed the petition. Assuming for purposes of this argument that said invalidation violated the rights of those 462 persons, TBT and Clewis have still failed to allege that Mr. Clewis or any named members of TBT were among those 462 persons. In the absence of such an allegation, the court does not have jurisdiction to pursue this matter.

This issue came to light recently when Judge Spicola ruled that the Supervisor and City are liable to Clewis and Take Back Tampa for their "reasonable attorney's fees" of \$60,500 under 42

U.S.C. § 1988.<sup>3</sup> The Court below made this decision in the face of argument from the undersigned and corroborating uncontroverted testimony<sup>4</sup> that the Court lacked jurisdiction to address those claims. The Honorable Judge Spicola decided long ago that somehow TBT and Clewis' rights were infringed upon by the actions of the Supervisor when she failed to count the 462 signatures of persons purged from the permanent voter registration rolls (see Judge Spicola's decision subsumed within Judge Danahy's opinion at 5-6). At the above-referenced "fee hearing," TBT's vice-chairman, legal representative and spokesperson, David Caton, testified that Richard Clewis, the only individual plaintiff identified as an original petitioner in this lawsuit, was a city resident who had Moreover, Mr. Caton testified that signed TBT's petition. Mr. Clewis remained on the Supervisor's registration list throughout this process and that his signature was not one of the 462 signatures invalidated by the Supervisor.

Mr. Caton also testified that the Take Back Tampa Political Action Committee was co-chaired by three persons, and that only one of them, Mr. Clewis, was a city resident. Mr. Caton was unable to identify any other participants or members of TBT. Finally, Mr. Caton expressly stated on the record that the unincorporated Take Back Tampa Political Action Committee was fighting for the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Honorable Judge Spicola issued his verbal decision on January 15, 1993. Petitioner will file said Order with the Clerk of the Supreme Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The subject hearing on attorney's fees only occurred seven (7) days prior to the filing of this brief; therefore, Petitioner has not been able to procure the official transcript to date. Said transcript will be filed upon receipt with a Motion for Supplemental Filing.

Constitutional rights of the persons who are <u>not before this Court</u>, namely, the 462 petition signers whose signatures were not before the Court.

In <u>Warth v. Seldin</u>, 95 S.Ct. 2197, 2205 (1975), the Supreme Court made it abundantly clear that a plaintiff can only assert its own legal rights and interests and cannot rest its claims for relief on the rights and interests of others. See also <u>Higdon v.</u> <u>Dade City</u>, 446 So.2d 203 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). Likewise, in <u>El</u> <u>Faison Dorado, Inc. v. Hillsborough County</u>, 483 So.2d 518 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986) the Second District Court of Appeal ordered a declaratory judgment when it found that an organization failed to allege that it (not its members) was threatened under the ordinance in question. Here, <u>Mr. Clewis' petition</u> was actually counted by the Supervisor, and therefore, he could have no claims (Constitutional, or otherwise) against the Supervisor. The uncontroverted evidence indicates that the other two named members of TBT were not even remotely eligible to sign the petition as they were not residents of the City of Tampa.

Mr. Clewis' alleged Constitutional right to sign a petition (or vote) was not violated by the Supervisor. Likewise, TBT is an organization, not an elector, and therefore has no right to vote or petition under § 10.07 of the Tampa City Charter or the Constitution. Furthermore, Take Back Tampa did not name, or create a "class" of persons, who may have actually had a potential Constitutional claim; vis-a-vis, even one of the 462 persons whose signatures had been rejected. In other words, if, for argument's sake, the Supervisor violated anyone's legal rights or interests, it would have been those 462 electors -- who are not before this

Court.

The Courts below lacked jurisdiction to review this case and more recently lacked subject matter jurisdiction to award attorney's fees on the basis of alleged violations of 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988. Therefore, Petitioner respectfully urges this Court to dismiss this matter for lack of jurisdiction or in the alternative as to exercise its discretionary authority and issue a writ of prohibition ordering the trial court to rescind its Order Granting Attorney's Fees and Dismiss Respondent's Motion for Fees with prejudice.

II. THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE MANDAMUS THAT REQUIRED THE SUPERVISOR TO COUNT PETITIONS PERSONS WHO WERE NOT THE OF OUALIFIED VOTERS.

The principal issue before this Court is whether the courts below committed reversible error in mandating that the Supervisor of Elections count the petitions of persons who were not "qualified voters" for purposes of a petition drive initiated in satisfaction of a provision of Tampa's City Charter. Petitioner respectfully asserts that error was committed as the subject petition signers were not "qualified voters" when they signed a petition as their names had been legally purged from the Supervisor's official voter registration list.

The Supervisor is the official custodian of the registration books and has the exclusive control of matters pertaining to the registration of electors. § 98.161(3), Fla. Stat. (1991). As the official custodian of the registration books, the Supervisor is charged with checking signatures on various types of petitions to verify the legal status of the persons signing and to determine whether the particular petition contains the requisite number of signatures for its intended purpose. <u>See</u> §§ 99.095(4)(a) and (b), 99.0955(3)(a) and (b), 99.006(4), 100.361(1)(c), (d) and (h), Florida Statutes (1991).

The courts below properly recognized that it is the Legislature's role to regulate the electoral process in a reasonable fashion (DCA Op. 6) and noted that the parties do not here challenge the validity of any of the applicable election law statutes, including Section 98.081, Florida Statutes.

The Supervisors of this state are each regularly faced with the arduous task of evaluating various petitions to determine if they contain an adequate number of "required valid signatures." Section 100.361(1)(d). Here the Supervisor of Elections of Hillsborough County was presented with a petition submitted in accordance with the requirements of Section 10.07 of the Tampa City Charter. In order to establish the validity of the signatures she first considered the express language of that Charter provision and then relied upon relevant election statutes and opinions from the Attorney General and Division of Elections in order to determine which signatures would be valid under this unique Charter. Her decision to strike the signatures of those persons not qualified to vote at the time they signed the petition was appropriate and must stand.

A. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT ISSUED A WRIT OF MANDAMUS COMPELLING THE SUPERVISOR OF ELECTIONS TO PERFORM A DUTY WHICH SHE HAD NO CLEAR LEGAL DUTY TO PERFORM.

The trial court abused its discretion when, contrary to well established law, it issued a writ of mandamus compelling the

Supervisor to perform a duty involving the exercise of judgment and which she had no "clear legal duty" to perform. Relators Take Back Tampa and Clewis petitioned the court below to issue a writ of mandamus to compel the Supervisor of Elections to count the the 462 electors whose signatures had signatures of been invalidated by the Supervisor. It is well settled that mandamus will not issue for purposes of compelling the performance of a discretionary duty or one that involves the exercise of judgment. Reese v. Baron, 256 So.2d 70 (Fla. App. 1971). Likewise, for mandamus to issue, the relator must show that he has a clear legal right to it and that the public officer in question has a clear legal duty to perform a given act. Hatten v. State, 561 So.2d 562 (Fla. 1990); Heath v. Becktell, 327 So.2d 3 (Fla. 1976).

The Supervisor of Elections is statutorily mandated to perform numerous tasks, some ministerial and some that involve the exercise of judgment. For example, Section 98.081 mandates that the Supervisor purge her permanent registration rolls every two years. If, for any reason, the Supervisor resisted conducting this task, a relator could petition the circuit court and upon a showing that the Supervisor was failing to perform such a ministerial task and that he had no other remedies at law, mandamus would issue.

In contrast, some of the Supervisor's duties are not ministerial. For instance, a regular task of the Supervisor is to compare a voter's signature at the polls with the signature on her permanent registration records. The evaluation of said signature is clearly subject to the discretion of the Supervisor and could never be subject to a writ of mandamus. Likewise, here the Supervisor was required by law to evaluate the validity of more

jjd\pleading\Sup-Brf.TBT\21\91-1885-01

than 12,000 signatures to determine compliance with the requirements of the City Charter.

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