7.A.5698

017

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 80,189

SID J. WHITE

FEB. 12 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

Chief Deputy Clerk

ROBIN C. KRIVANEK, as Hillsborough County Supervisor of Elections,

Petitioner,

v.

TAKE BACK TAMPA POLITICAL COMMITTEE and RICHARD M. CLEWIS, III,

Respondents.

APPEAL FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF FLORIDA NO. 91-04045

ANSWER BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF RESPONDENTS, TAKE BACK TAMPA POLITICAL COMMITTEE AND RICHARD M. CLEWIS, III

G. DONOVAN CONWELL, JR. Post Office Box 1438
Tampa, Florida 33601
(813) 228-7411
Florida Bar Number 371319

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENTS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Supervisor's refusal to count the signatures of a certain class of registered voters invalidated Clewis' and Take Back Tampa's Petition, making Clewis' Petition signature a meaningless

exercise and denying Clewis his right to vote. Clewis, as a registered voter, and his committee, Take Back Tampa, also had a right under Section 10.07 of the Tampa City Charter and related statutes and laws to petition the government and to have the Petition signatures counted as required by law. The Supervisor's refusal to count signatures that she was required by law to count, infringed upon those rights. The Respondents, accordingly, have standing to bring this suit because their rights are "affected by the outcome of the litigation." They also have standing because their mandamus action attempts to enforce a public duty. The Supervisor, in any event, has waived any defense of "standing" that she might have had, by failing to raise such a defense either in the Circuit Court or in her appeal to the Second District Court of Appeals.

The persons whose names the Supervisor moved to the temporarily withdrawn list are "electors of the City" and their signatures on the Petition should have been counted. Section 10.07 of the Tampa City Charter provides that "electors of the City" are eligible to sign a petition. An "elector" is a "registered voter." The Supervisor and the Division of Elections concede that all persons on the Supervisor's temporarily withdrawn list are "registered voters." Moreover, §98.081(1) makes clear that electors on the temporarily withdrawn list retain their legal status as "electors." The persons on the temporarily withdrawn list, therefore, were eligible to sign the Petition as "electors of the City."

Even if persons on the temporarily withdrawn list were not "electors," they were reinstated as electors when they signed the Petition as a "registered voter" of the City of Tampa and gave their current address and precinct number. This act of signing the Petition and supplying this information met the minimal requirements for reinstatement under §98.081(1) Fla. Stats. and provided all of the information that the Supervisor would have received if the Supervisor had received those voters' reinstatement cards.

The Supervisor unconstitutionally applied §98.081(1) by denying registered voters the right to petition the government without a compelling state interest for doing so. She also violated the equal protection provisions of the Constitution by denying inactive registered voters the same right to petition the government which she granted to active registered voters.

Finally, the issue of whether persons whose names are temporarily withdrawn are "electors" should not be an issue because the Supervisor has admitted that she did not delete the names of any electors from the registration record until <u>after</u> she received the Petition. She intended to remove them earlier, but simply was not able to do so. The temporary withdrawal provisions of §98.081(1), therefore, do not apply here.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT HAD SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION TO ISSUE THE WRIT OF MANDAMUS.

In the Supervisor's Initial Brief, she raised a defense, for the first time in this litigation, that the Respondents, Clewis and his committee, Take Back Tampa, do not have standing to bring this action. In doing so she relied entirely upon alleged matters outside the Record and completely ignored Clewis' testimony (which is part of the Record), on matters that relate to standing.

This Court should deny the Supervisor's request that this Court dismiss the action based upon an alleged lack of standing, for three reasons. First, the Respondents' private rights are "affected by the outcome of this litigation" and they, accordingly, have standing to bring this suit. Second, the Respondents sought through this suit to enforce a public duty. As a voter in the City of Tampa, Clewis has standing to seek enforcement of the supervisor's public duty. Finally, the Supervisor waived any defense of lack of standing that she might have had, by failing to raise such a defense either in the Circuit Court or in her appeal to the Court of Appeals.

A. The Respondents Have Standing to Bring this Action.

A plaintiff has standing "where there is sufficient interest at stake in the controversy which will be affected by the outcome of the litigation." Jamlynn Investments Corp. v. San Marco Residents of Marco Condominium Association, Inc., 544 So.2d 1080, 1082 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); Geiger v. Sun First National Bank of Orlando, 427 So.2d 815, 817 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). Clewis and the association of qualified voters that make up Take Back Tampa have standing to bring this action under this test. The outcome of this litigation clearly affects the rights of Clewis and the association of qualified voters of Tampa known as the Take Back Tampa

Committee. Section 10.07 of the Tampa City Charter and its related laws and statutes provide a mechanism whereby a qualified voter of the City, such as Clewis, may exercise the constitutionally guaranteed right to petition the government. Section 10.07 specifically provides that a qualified voter may "require reconsideration of any adopted ordinance by petition signed by the electors of the City equal in number to not less than ten percent of the electors of the City qualified to vote at the last general municipal election." Clewis, whom the Supervisor has admitted is a "qualified voter of the City" (R. 355) had the power and legal right to require reconsideration of any adopted ordinance upon his submission of a petition bearing enough signatures to meet the requirements of Section 10.07. The Supervisor's refusal to count petition signatures of "electors of the City" which she was required by law to count, infringed upon Clewis' right to require, through the petition process, reconsideration of the adopted ordinance.

Clewis also had the right through the petition process, to have "the qualified voters . . . approve or reject such ordinance at a city election . . . ". (Section 10.07, Tampa City Charter). The Supervisor's refusal to count signatures of "electors of the City" which she was required by law to count, therefore, also infringed upon Clewis' right as a qualified voter to vote on such ordinance and to submit the ordinance to the qualified voters of the City for a vote.

Any qualified voter who has been deprived of the federal constitutionally protected right to vote has standing to seek vindication of that right. Baker v. Carr, 82 S.Ct. 691, 705 (1962). A voter so deprived can seek vindication of his own right and the rights of those similarly situated. Id. In Baker, the appellants challenged a state reapportionment statute as a "debasement" of their right to vote. The statute allegedly apportioned legislators arbitrarily and in disregard of the apportionment formula established by the state constitution. The court recognized a citizen's right to vote free of unlawful government action. Id. If government action unlawfully impairs the right to vote, citizens have a "plain, direct and adequate interest in maintaining the effectiveness of their votes." Id. (Quoting Coleman v. Miller, 59 S.Ct. 972, 975 (1939)).

Under the Court's opinion in <u>Baker</u>, Clewis and the association of qualified voters that make up Take Back Tampa had a "plain, direct and adequate interest" in bringing this action. The Supervisor's unlawful refusal to count signatures of "electors of the City" deprived Respondents of their own rights to petition for repeal of the ordinance, and to vote on whether to repeal the ordinance. By bringing this action, Respondents vindicated their constitutional rights.

B. The Respondents Have Standing to Compel the Supervisor's Performance of Her Public Duty.

The Supervisor's duty to count the otherwise valid signatures of all "electors of the city" is a public duty. The Respondents sought through this mandamus proceeding to compel the Supervisor to

perform that public duty. The Respondents, therefore, have standing to bring this action, even if they had no private interest in the results of these proceedings. Bd. of Public Instruction of Dade County v. State, 7 So.2d 105, 107 (Fla. 1942) (where "the object of the mandamus is to procure the enforcement of a public duty . . . relator . . . need not show that he has any . . . interest in the results."); Florida Industrial Commission v. State, 21 So.2d 599, 600 (Fla. 1945) (". . . where the question is one of public right and object of the mandamus is to procure the enforcement of a public duty, the relator need not show that he has any legal or special interest in the result . . ").

C. The Supervisor Waived Any Defense That the Respondents Lack Standing by Failing to Assert Such a Defense in the Circuit Court or in her Appeal to the Second District Court of Appeals.

The Supervisor argues on page seven of her Brief that it is evident on the face of the Petition for Writ of Mandamus that Clewis and Take Back Tampa do not have standing. (Initial Brief at P. 7). Nonetheless, the Supervisor did not raise lack of standing as a defense in this action (R. 355 - 370), nor did she raise this issue on appeal to the Second District Court of Appeals. (Supervisor's Initial Brief to the Second District Court of Appeal, Case No. 91-04045; App. E).

This Court has ruled that the failure of a defendant to raise in the lower court the question of standing "until after all of the proceedings below are concluded" constitutes a waiver of that defense. Cowart v. City of West Palm Beach, 255 So.2d 673, 674 (Fla. 1971); Dover v. Worrell, 401 So.2d 1322, 1324 (Fla. 1981)

(citing with approval, Cowart v. City of West Palm Beach); Lyons v. King, 397 So.2d 964, 968 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) (Where issue of standing to assert cause of action was not raised in trial court, the issue was waived and would not be decided on appeal); Bergen Brunswig Corp. v. State, etc., 415 So.2d 765, 767 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982) (the appellant waived the right to assert "lack of capacity" on appeal by failing to raise it before the circuit court.)

D. The Supervisor's Request for a Writ of Prohibition Should be Denied.

The request for a Writ of Prohibition, based upon an alleged lack of standing, should be denied for two reasons. First, the Respondents have standing and the Supervisor waived the issue of standing, as set forth above. Second, a Writ of Prohibition is not a proper remedy to revoke an Order already entered. English v. McCrary, 348 So.2d 293, 296-297 (Fla. 1977) ("Prohibition . . . is preventitive and not corrective in that it commands the one to whom it is directed not to do the thing which the Supervisory court is informed the lower court is about to do. Its purpose is to prevent the doing of something, not to compel the undoing of something already done. It cannot be used to revoke an Order already The Order targeted by the Supervisor in her request entered.") already has been entered and cannot be revoked by a Writ of Prohibition.

II. THE TRIAL COURT AND COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY RULED THAT ELECTORS ON THE "TEMPORARILY WITHDRAWN" LIST RETAIN THEIR LEGAL STATUS AS "ELECTORS OF THE CITY" AND, THEREFORE, ARE ELIGIBLE TO PETITION THE CITY.

Section 10.07 of the Charter provides that the Petition shall be signed by "electors of the city." Section 100.361(1)(a) Fla. (1991) provides that "[e]lectors of the municipality are eligible to sign the petition." All that the Supervisor must do is determine whether signatures on the Petition are in fact the signatures of "electors" of the city. §100.361(1)(d) and (h) Fla. Stats. (1991) (all that the Supervisor shall do is "determine the number of valid signatures"). The Supervisor must count and accept each valid signature of an elector of the City which appears on the Petition; Id; §10.07 Tampa City Charter; §99.097(3) Fla. Stat. (1991), (if the "Supervisor determines that the person signing the Petition and the person who registered to vote are one and the same" then the name on the petition "shall be counted as a valid signature"). The Supervisor concedes that she was required to count the valid signatures of each "elector of the City" who signed the Petition. (R. 853). The persons on the inactive registered voters' list never lost their legal status as "electors" of the City and, therefore, their signatures on the Petition should have been counted.

A. A Person Becomes an "Elector" by Registering to Vote.

"Elector" is not defined in the Charter or the Related Laws, but is defined in the Florida Election Code §97.021(11) Fla. Stats.

(1991) and in the Florida Constitution Article 6 §2. The Florida Election Code is incorporated into the election laws of the City of

Tampa pursuant to Part B, §8.23 Tampa City Charter and Related Laws. The Election Code defines "Elector" as "synonymous with 'voter' or 'qualified elector or voter'." §97.021(11) Fla. Stats. (1991). A "qualified elector" is defined in the Florida Election Code as "any person 18 years of age who is a citizen of the United States and a legal resident of Florida and the county where he wishes to register" and who registers to vote. §97.041(1)(a) Fla. Stats. (1991). In other words, an "elector," as that term is used in the Florida Election Code and Tampa City Charter, is a person who has registered to vote.

The Florida Constitution defines "elector" as follows:

Every citizen of the United States who is at least twenty-one years of age and who has been a permanent resident for one year in the state and six months in a county, if registered as provided by law, shall be an elector of that county.

Fla. Const. Art. I, §5. In other words, someone who has registered to vote in a county is an "elector" of that county.

Everyone on the Supervisor's inactive registered voter list has registered to vote in Hillsborough County. Once registered those persons do not lose their legal status as electors except as provided by law. Section 98.041 Fla. Stats. (1991) ("electors registered shall not thereafter be required to register or reregister except as provided by law"). The Supervisor, therefore, was required by §10.07 of the Charter to count and accept the valid signatures of all persons on the inactive registered voter list in Hillsborough County who reside in the City of Tampa, unless some

other law caused those persons to lose their legal status as an "elector of the City."

B. A Person Does Not Lose Her Legal Status as an "Elector" When Her Name is Temporarily Withdrawn From the Registration Records.

A person can lose her legal status as an "elector" if her name is "removed" from the registration record under \$98.081(2) or (3) Fla. Stat. (1991) or \$98.301(3) Fla. Stat. (1991) or if her name is "stricken" from the registration record under \$98.201(1) Fla. Stat. (1991). An "elector" whose name is only "temporarily withdrawn" from the registration record pursuant to \$98.081(1) Fla. Stats., however, does not lose his or her status as an "elector." The signature of such an "elector," therefore, must be counted under \$10.07 of the Charter as a signature of an "elector." This is crucial here because the Supervisor treated at least 180 electors whose names were temporarily withdrawn from the registration records as if they were no longer "electors."

The Florida Legislature made clear in the Election Code that electors whose names have been temporarily withdrawn from the registration records under §98.081(1) Fla. Stats. are still "electors" of the City under §10.07 of the Charter. The language that the Legislature used in §98.081(1) proves it.

Throughout the Supervisor's Initial Brief she uses the words "temporarily withdrawn" and "removed" interchangeably, apparently missing the material distinction made in the Election Laws between those terms. She also uses the term "qualified elector" instead of "elector." Those terms are synonymous under §97.021(11) Fla. Stats (1991), so they can be used interchangeably in the Supervisor's Brief or in this Answer Brief.

1. The Legislature specifically describes a person whose name the Supervisor has temporarily withdrawn from the registration record as an "Elector".

Section 98.081(1) provides in part:

A name shall be <u>restored</u> to the registration records when the <u>elector</u>, in writing makes known to the Supervisor that his status has not changed.

The Supervisor shall then <u>reinstate</u> the name on the registration books without requiring the <u>elector</u> to reregister.

(Emphasis added). This shows that the Legislature made clear its intent that persons who are already on the temporarily withdrawn list retain their legal status as an "elector," by using the word "elector" to describe such persons.

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